



Middle East Initiative

Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs Harvard Kennedy School 79 JFK Street Cambridge, MA 02138

www.belfercenter.org/project/middle-east-initiative

Statements and views expressed in this report are solely those of the author(s) and do not imply endorsement by Harvard University, Harvard Kennedy School, or the Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs.

The designations employed and the presentation of the material on the maps in this report do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Copyright 2024, President and Fellows of Harvard College

The Protest to Parliament Pipeline:

Investigating the Link Between Activism and Women's Political Participation in Iraq

Marsin Alshamary

About the Author

Marsin Alshamary is a faculty affiliate with the Middle East Initiative. She is also an Assistant Professor of Political Science at Boston College and a nonresident fellow at the Brookings Institution. Her research examines religious institutions, civil society, and protest movements in the Middle East. Her book manuscript examines the historical and contemporary interactions between the Shi'a religious establishment and protest movements in Iraq. She holds a doctorate in political science from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) and a BA from Wellesley College.

About the Middle East Initiative

Established in 1998, the Middle East Initiative (MEI) is Harvard University's principal forum for policy-relevant research and teaching on the contemporary Middle East and North Africa. MEI convenes policymakers, scholars, and intellectuals from the region and beyond to expand our understanding of this complex part of the world and to contribute to the search for solutions to its most pressing policy challenges. Through the integration of scholarly research, policy analysis, executive and graduate education, and community engagement, MEI aims to advance public policy and build capacity in the Middle East to enhance the lives of all the region's peoples.

Acknowledgements

This project was supported by the International Development Research Centre's 2021 Women, Peace and Security (WPS) Research Award. Among the many wonderful staff at the IDRC, I am particularly grateful to Roula El-Rifai for her support and enthusiasm during the early phases of research planning and for organizing various events and opportunities for presentation and feedback. I am also grateful to my co-winners from 2021, Muzna Dureid and Hafsa Afailal for their feedback, wisdom, and inspiration. Many thanks to the Middle East Initiative's team, and especially Marina Lorenzini, for shepherding me through the publication process. Finally, I am grateful to my interviewees and interlocuters in Iraq who generously shared their time, information, and insights with me.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Setting the Scene	4
	2.1 Defining the terms	4
	2.2 Lessons learned about Women's Political Participation	4
	2.3 The History of Women's Political Participation in Iraq	7
3.	Findings	. 10
	3.1 Traditional Civil Society and Women's Political Participation	10
	3.2 Protest and Women's Political Participation	13
	3.3 Challenges and Opportunities for Women's Political Participation	15
4.	Conclusion	. 18
	4.1 Policy Recommendations	18
	4.2 Can Women push Irag towards Democratization?	20



1. Introduction

Iraq is expected to hold its seventh parliamentary election in October 2025, defying many expectations about the longevity and durability of the post-2003 democratizing state. The previous election, held in October 2021 as an early election, succeeded in shaking the stagnant political system by introducing a new electoral law that paved the way for independents, new political parties, and female candidates to succeed. The 2021 election also benefited from international expertise, including the efforts of the United Nations Assistance Mission for Iraq (UNAMI), whose mandate will expire by the end of 2025, giving it one final opportunity to support Iraqi democracy. Like many other international organizations, UNAMI dedicated some of its efforts to bolstering the usually neglected foundations of democracy: civil society and women's political participation. In many ways, the 2021 election was a success story for both civil society and women's political participation, but it remains to be seen whether this success will be replicated in the upcoming October 2025 elections. This paper examines the linkages between civil society, women's political participation, and democratization in post-2003 Iraq and highlights the ways in which Iraq's stability and democratization can be sustained.

In the lead up to the October 2021 federal elections, the streets of Baghdad were lined with posters of female candidates. Some were familiar faces with clear political baggage and history, like Sara Iyad Allawi, the daughter of Iraq's former prime minister. Others were former members of parliament from entrenched

political parties. What drew the most excitement from observers, however, were the campaigns of civil activists who had participated in the October protest movement. Locally known as the "Tishreen Movement", the October protest movement was the largest sustained protest movement in post-2003 Iraq's history, which took place between October 2019 and February 2020 and involved

These women represented a new type of female candidate, one without ties to the entrenched elite and who represented Iraq's youthful society.

the participation of hundreds of thousands across multiple cities² The protest movement succeeded in pushing for a new electoral law and in holding early elections, though the elections were only six months ahead of the traditional schedule by the time they were organized. These women represented a new type of female candidate, one without ties to the entrenched elite and who represented

Iraq's youthful society. Their participation, like the protest movement itself, heralded to many a new era of Iraqi politics, one where younger women were confident enough to run for office and who relied on grassroots campaigning and social media.³

Ultimately, Iraqi women were able to win 95 seats in the 329-seat legislature. Although Iraq has a constitutionally imposed 25% quota of female representation in parliament, 57 of those women were able to win their seat without the quota.⁴ From the outside looking in, it appeared as though Iraq was making gains in women's political participation. One of the goals of this article is to investigate the longevity and quality of these gains.

Scholars and practitioners alike draw an implicit link between democratization and female participation in politics.⁵ In December 2011, the United Nations' General Assembly adopted resolution 66/130 which is dedicated to reaffirming the importance of women's political participation and which "calls upon States in situations of political transition to take effective steps to ensure the participation of women on equal terms with men in all phases of political reform, from decisions on whether to call for reforms in existing institutions to decisions regarding transitional governments, to the formulation of government policy, to the means of electing new democratic governments."⁶

In the early days of post-invasion Iraq, this resulted in the female quota as well as support for civil society organizations (CSOs) working on advocacy, human rights, and women's rights. Nearly two decades later, however, the link between female political participation and democratization is, in practice, tenuous. More and more, the Iraqi public views the quota system as empowering candidates who are associated with entrenched political parties and to do little for the populations they are intended to support. The tendency for traditional political parties to use quotas to their advantage is not unique to Iraq and exists in both democracies and autocracies.

the Iraqi public views the quota system as empowering candidates who are associated with entrenched political parties

Much of the cautious optimism surrounding the 2021 elections was due to the presence of female candidates who had emerged from the protest movement, and

by extension, from civil society. The belief was that perhaps these women would be able to avoid the traps of being instrumentalized by powerful politicians and would not trade women's issues for their own political survival. The narrative surrounding the protest movement's gender-empowering and equalizing spaces fueled this hope. ¹⁰ After all, it made sense that women who emerged from civil society and protest were not the same as those who were recruited by entrenched political parties.

In this article, I examine the origins of this new class of female political leadership and the role Iraqi civil society played in its emergence. In the process, I detangle various manifestations of civil society, from the traditional women's organizations to new youth-driven political groups. ¹¹ I examine the challenges that women face in political participation in Iraq and discuss what the nature of their participation means for the future of democratization in the country.

I do so by relying on semi-structured in-person interviews with women from across the political spectrum in Iraq, including first-time candidates from the protest movement as well as hardened politicians from established political parties. In addition, I spoke to scholars from Iraqi academia and members of civil society. I also analyze the media output of political campaigns and politicians across various social media platforms. Additionally, I rely on a rich body of secondary scholarship that has paved the way for understanding the roots and rewards of women's political participation globally. I discuss this groundwork in the subsequent section of this report, where I define key terms and situate the Iraqi context.

Following this, I turn to the substantive findings of my research. First, I raise the question: has Iraqi civil society produced female political leadership? I detangle the various manifestations of civil society in Iraq and discuss how they can – in theory – promote women's political participation. Following this discussion, I examine the relationship between the protest movement, civil society, and women's political participation. Finally, I examine the challenges that women face when seeking public office and how these challenges differ for women across the political spectrum. I conclude with a series of policy recommendations derived from the findings and directed at Iraqi government institutions as well as international organizations who seek to enhance women's political participation and democratization in Iraq, with an eye towards the next federal elections.

2. Setting the Scene

2.1 **Defining the terms**

Many scholars espouse a very broad definition of women's political participation. For example, Koens and Gunawardana define it as "the multitude of ways in which women challenge and redistribute unequal power dynamics that limit agency in their daily lives. It is viewed as both a formal agentic act (for example, contesting elections) and an informal agentic act (for example, participating in a rally to advocate for more women contesting elections)." 12 Although the common definitions include a variety of behaviors, this paper focuses specifically on the experiences of women who are seeking a seat in the Iraqi parliament, regardless of whether or not they were able to win the elections. Thus, this is not a study of quotas or of descriptive representation, both of which are discussed and assessed, but a study of the political activism and interest demonstrated by Iraqi women when they choose to run for parliament. When the term "political participation" is used in this paper, it refers specifically to the process of running for parliament. In other contexts, and in the literature, political participation includes several activities, including for example, voting, monitoring elections, volunteering, advocating, and protesting.

2.2 Lessons learned about Women's Political Participation

The extensive literature on women's political participation has investigated many relationships, including the impact and motivation behind parliamentary quotas, the relationship between regime type and women's political participation, the relationship between regime transition, specifically democratization, and women's political participation, as well as a host of other interesting variables including international aid, economic development, and well-being outcomes. The literature has utilized a variety of methods – from the ethnographic to the statistical – and has examined global and regional patterns, as well as delved deeply into country cases.

For example, concerning democratization and women's political participation, research from Chile has shown that there is an opportunity window for women to advocate for their political rights and representation during regime



transition.¹³ Other scholarship, focusing on sub-Saharan Africa, demonstrates that transitions to democratization after civil war creates more space for women's political representation.¹⁴ This is corroborated by quantitative analysis of political transitions globally, which finds that specifically for a transition from civil war to democracy, higher shares of women are elected to parliament in the medium term (defined as after three elections cycles).¹⁵ However, this research also maintains that political transitions globally, from autocracy to democracy and vice-versa, do not improve the representation of women, and especially not in the short term.¹⁶ The lack of consensus on the relationship between democratization and women's representation represent a paradox to scholars.¹⁷

In some ways, Iraq is a unique case because its regime transition was orchestrated by an occupying force with its own preferences and preconceived notions about women's inclusion and political participation and their impact on democratization. Nevertheless, the inclusion of the 25% quota was the achievement of the Iraqi women's movement and not a Western import. Moreover, the quota has been in place for multiple election cycles allowing for the comparison of its short-term and long-term impacts on outcomes for women.

The literature is clear-eyed about the shortcomings of quotas and the ways in which they can be abused, including by enterprising political elites. Globally, the use of quotas is widespread, with over 130 countries employing some type of quota. 19 Many developing countries adopt quotas for reputational reasons and in response to international pressures.²⁰ However, scholars have cautioned against assuming that a quota guarantees greater political representation for women, as there are different quotas (parliamentary and party) and they can differ in their efficacy depending on the country they are operating in, how long they have been operating, and other factors.²¹ In Iraq's case, researchers have pointed out that the parliamentary quotas have limitations as female MPs are significantly less likely to occupy powerful ministerial positions than their male colleagues.²² Nevertheless, there are many benefits for women's legislative representation including increased representation in other domains, women-friendly policies, and improvements in women's rights.²³ In the Iraqi context, one advancement that scholars have highlighted has been the adoption of the Women, Peace, and Security agenda through a national action plan.²⁴ With regards to CSOs, women's organizations have proliferated in Iraq after 2003, but many of them have fallen victim to what scholars describe as the "NGO-ization" of civil society.²⁵

Protests can be an alternate form of civil society organizing. Iraq's post-2003 protest movements – especially the October 2019 protest movement – were not unique. The mobilization mechanisms, the demands, and the ways in which the protests were magnified and then quelled were like many other instances of protest globally and in the region. One of the emerging themes of the protest movement was the participation of women, which some believed would translate into political participation. Emerging research from the October protest movement suggests that the prolonged participation of women in demonstration squares was reflective of a desire among Iraqi youth for greater social freedom. ²⁶

There is some research on the impact of protests and women's participation in protest on women's rights and political participation. For example, a study from the Egyptian Arab Spring has shown that in areas with high protest visibility, women experienced a significant improvement in their ability to make decisions

about health, socialization, household expenditure as well as a decrease in acceptance of domestic violence and FGD.27 Research from the Red Shirt and Yellow Shirt Movements in Thailand shows that women increase their political knowledge when participating in protest movements, and as a result, have greater political participation.28 The research demonstrates three types of participation: first, more sophisticated engagement within the protest movement itself; second, becoming informal representatives of their communities; and finally by formally joining politics. All three mechanisms are relevant to the experience of Iraqi women in the October protest movement.

2.3 The History of Women's Political Participation in Iraq

Women's political activism in Iraq began to develop in the 1930s and 1940s, with the development of political parties. An important figure at this time was Amina Al-Rahhal, a trailblazer who spurned social mores by becoming the first woman to drive in Baghdad. She attended law school and became the first female member of the Communist Party's central committee from 1941 to 1943.²⁹ Al-Rahhal paved the path for women's political participation in Iraq, a path which was deeply intertwined with civil society activism. For example, it was during this time that the Women's Committee for the Prevention of Nazism and Fascism was established, and later transformed into the Iraqi Women's Network after World War II.³⁰ The Women's Committee included Al-Rahhal and other pioneers as members, including Naziha Al-Dulaimi, the first female minister in Iraq and in the Arab World.³¹ Many of the women's movement's earliest pioneers were also members of the Iraqi Communist Party, a trend that has only began to change since 2003.

Under Ba'athism, the women's movement (and civil society more broadly), was subsumed under the state. Thus, the General Federation of Iraqi Women was established and although it was always an arm of the Ba'ath party, it faced increasing restrictions after Saddam Hussein assumed leadership of the country. The GFIW is associated with certain gains, including the literacy campaign and Iraqi women's right to vote in 1980. Although they were not remotely democratic, the parliamentary elections held under the Ba'athist regime produced female parliamentarians at a rate of 7.2% in the 2000 elections, three years before the war. During the age of Ba'athist authoritarianism, many Iraqi feminists and

organizations operated either out of the semi-autonomous Kurdistan region of Iraq or underground.

In 2003, many of these groups resurfaced to advocate for women's inclusion in the new Iraq, including through a gender quota in parliament and through the preservation of the personal status law from 1959, which was a civil personal status law that eliminated the need for religious courts.

Since then, the Iraqi women's movement has been facing new challenges including constant threats to transform the personal status law into a sect-based or religious-based family law,³⁴ a co-optation of the quota they had worked so hard for, and an uphill struggle to pass a law against domestic violence. At the same time – women's participation in politics has sky-rocketed as has the number of women's NGOs. Despite these quantitative advancements, there is little qualitative gains for Iraqi women, particularly for non-urbanite educated women.

Iraq is a puzzling country when it comes to women's rights because it sometimes appears to be performing better than other countries in the region, particularly when using indicators, but the challenges that face Iraqi women are deeply apparent through ethnographic work and through qualitative research. For example, although Iraqi women find employment opportunities in the public sector and advance to key positions in ministries, they are not protected against sexual harassment and extortion. In addition, although Iraq's personal status law sets the legal age of marriage at 18, there are no real mechanisms preventing marriages for minors, particularly religious marriages. Perhaps the best example of how Iraq's legal institutions are insufficient is the issue of sex trafficking in the country. In a recent investigation on the issue, Simona Foltyn has uncovered the degree to which powerful political figures, tribal customs, and religious leaders have fueled a system that leaves women with no exit options. Government officials protect colleagues and friends who profit off sex trafficking, conservative tribal customs prevent women from being accepted back into their communities, and religious leaders tend to focus on certain subsets of vulnerable women rather than those they view as being "dishonorable". Iraqi society makes it difficult for CSOs to create women's shelters and have blocked legal and activist measures to support vulnerable women.³⁵

Iraq has institutions and laws, but they are not implemented, or they are easily abused when implemented – like the quota. For example, there used to be a Ministry for Women's Affairs, but it was dissolved and replaced by the Women's Empowerment Directorate at the General Secretariat of the Council of Ministers. Now, in each ministry, there is a women's empowerment office, though interviewees described it as a "joke to appease the international community." In addition, although there is a parliamentary committee on women's affairs, it is seen as an undesirable position by ambitious political women. Doubtlessly, Iraq can do much better and it can rely on a foundation that was created through a history of women's activism.



3. Findings

3.1 Traditional Civil Society and Women's Political Participation

Throughout Iraq's tumultuous history, civil society has played a vital role in connecting society to politics. At the height of their repression under the Ba'ath regime, CSOs operated underground or in the semi-autonomous Kurdistan region of Iraq. After 2003, CSOs mushroomed across all Iraq, bolstered by the steady flow of international aid, but only a fraction was durable and impactful.³⁷ The ones devoted to the promotion of an explicitly women's rights agenda were led by veteran activists, many of whom were leftists with ties to the Iraqi Communist Party. However, there were female activists and women's organizations from other walks, including religious organizations and ones rooted in ethnic identities.³⁸

In theory, there are two mechanisms through which these organizations can bolster women's political participation. First, they can increase the communication and coordination capacity as well as the political knowledge of their members and volunteers. In turn, this would allow their members to have the logistical and intellectual tools to run a compelling campaign. Second, they can intentionally devote themselves to training and empowering female candidates and existing parliamentarians through workshops and trainings. Both mechanisms have been at play in Iraq, though to various degrees of success.

With regards to the latter, many organizations devoted themselves to trainings and workshops for female activists and candidates following the October protest movement and in anticipation of the early elections of October 2021. This was



done in coordination and support from the international community, particularly from the United Nations agencies and democracy-promoting organizations. A candidate who ran with Emtidad in Baghdad, Jihan Al-Khafaji says:

There were a lot of workshops. There were some European organizations providing them as well as NDI, a Canadian organization, Popular Relief, and the Amal Movement and they were all helpful for me. They gave me a lot of information. The information that they gave had statistics...It was not just for people running for office, it was for women's political empowerment. You go there and there's activists and media women and other people. There were leadership skills. I went to a lot of workshops.³⁹

International organizations also supported programs initiated by the Iraqi government. For example, the National Security Advisory held training programs for female candidates in July 2021, in coordination with the Department of Women's Empowerment in the General Secretariat of the Council of Ministers, the Independent High Electoral Commission (IHEC), and UN Women. ⁴⁰ I spoke with two candidates – one running with a traditional party and one running with a protest-based party– who attended these sessions, and both described them as being practical, in the sense of presenting technical information about the course of the elections, political programs and the campaign, as well as guidance for cybersecurity. In addition, the Iraqi Media Network also provided a three-day workshop for female candidates and gave them an opportunity to conduct a TV test to learn how to introduce themselves. ⁴¹

Many first-time candidates expressed an appreciation for the skills that these events taught, though some expressed a preference for more workshops that focused on substantive topics (e.g. the constitution, electoral laws, fiscal policy, etc.) and less ones that focused on campaigning and leadership. Nour Nafea, a candidate that ran with Emtidad in Diwaniya and who, after the Sadrist resignation from parliament, became the youngest MP, told me that "what we really need is workshops with substance and not about leadership." By substance, Nafea, meant more political and economic know-how that would allow MPs to devise legislation that served the interests of the country and that could hold its ground against the experience of the entrenched parties. This sentiment was also reflected by female activists in the protest movement, who recognized that the weakness of the movement was in the lack of political know-how. Some of the trainers from CSOs expressed their frustration with the lack of essential policy knowledge that many first-time candidates had.

To their credit, women's organizations in Iraq do not focus their efforts exclusively on first-time candidates or liberal candidates but reach out and welcome women from a broad range of political orientations. Many of the older women's organizations in Iraq are associated, in one way or another, with the Iraqi Communist Party, but their training and empowerment policies are not exclusively directed at communist, socialist, or liberal segments of Iraqi society.

That being said, many of the women who ran for politics for the first time did not emerge from leadership positions in these CSOs, but rather from newer organizations or from the protest movement. The ones with ties to the traditional parties credit them for "opening their eyes to Iraqi society". Nour Nafea who worked with both UNICEF and with the Amal Organization said, "through my work with civil society – including Amal Organization- I understood the ills of society. Our society has so many issues." Similarly, Fatima Al-Issawi, who ran with Emtidad in Najaf, told me "I am a daughter of the Amal Foundation, I was one of their trainees, they really supported me." Other candidates sought out CSOs to bolster their own social networks, due to a lack of political connections. Some of the candidates who did not win in the elections expressed a desire to form CSOs devoted to their electoral district as a means of campaigning ahead of the next election. They believe that a CSO, particularly one that provides goods and services, would allow them to develop a good reputation in their community and would bolster their chances at winning during the next election.

There have also been instances of veteran CSO activists who have run for office. In an interview with Amal Habashi, from the Iraqi Women's Network, she complained that "unfortunately, the women who rose [to power] by saying that they were close to civil society or that they have knowledge of women's issues, they were not able to represent women's point of view or the view of civil society in parliament. They became very distant from work with civil society." As an example, she shows that many of these female parliamentarians were uninterested in the women's committee in

although there are examples of women who have reached parliament after work in civil society, they have consistently distanced themselves from civil society and from the goals of the women's movement after reaching office.

parliament and hesitant about adopting issues that were important to women's movements in Iraq, like the anti-domestic violence bill. Awatef Rasheed, a veteran activist from Basra who ran in the elections, agreed that female MPs were either disincentivized by financial reasons from focusing on women's issues (as not enough money was allocated to them) or they were beholden, despite the quota, to their political party's agenda. Dr. Ilham Mekki,



a well-known Iraqi women's rights advocate and writer, explained that even feminist MPs, like Alaa Talabani and Maysoon Damalouji, got sidelined. Thus, although there are examples of women who have reached parliament after work in civil society, they have consistently distanced themselves from civil society and from the goals of the women's movement after reaching office.

3.2 **Protest and Women's Political Participation**

Many of the female candidates who emerged from the protest movement, particularly the younger ones, were trained at some point by the traditional women's civil society groups in Iraq (such as the organizations that comprise the Iraqi Women Network). Iraqi civil society did not organize the protest movement and were even surprised by its rapid growth and momentum. 45 Moreover, women's participation and behavior in the protest movement operated outside of the influence of traditional CSOs. 46 At the same time, activists from the protest movement credit Iraqi civil society for providing the political awareness that led to the protest movement. The female candidates who ran in Iraq for the first time in 2021 describe themselves as being inspired by the October protest movement or being born from it, but at the same time, they also credit traditional civil society for providing a basis for their training and empowerment.

The female candidates who ran in Iraq for the first time in 2021 describe themselves as being inspired by the October protest movement or being born from it, but at the same time, they also credit traditional civil society for providing a basis for their training and empowerment.

946 female candidates ran for office in the 2021 elections.⁴⁷ There were 791 female candidates affiliated with political parties and 155 independent female candidates.⁴⁸ Of these, 97 women won seats in parliament, 57 of which did not need the quota to win.⁴⁹ Although this appears to be a decisive victory for Iraqi women, the reality is that 31 of the 97 seats were for women from the Sadrist Movement and only 2 went to Emtidad (the new protest-based party), 4 to New Generation Movement (a Kurdish reformist party), and 5 to independent candidates (not all of whom were non-partisan independents). However, in June 2021, the 73 Sadrist parliamentarians resigned, and other women – including more independents and new party members – ascended to parliament. This includes the candidate mentioned earlier in the paper, Noor Nafea, who had not won a seat until her Sadrist rival resigned in June.

The protest movement expanded the political opportunities that women envisioned for themselves, including as parliamentary candidates, organizers, and observers of elections.⁵⁰ Having worked so hard on ensuring there were early elections under a new electoral law, female activists also wanted to play a role in observing the conduct of the elections. An activist with the Shams Network for Monitoring Elections, a local CSO, said that although electoral monitoring campaigns did not have a focus on women, there were nevertheless many women serving as monitors on the team and many women CSOs engaged with Shams. Women who served as monitors and women who went out to vote faced harassment in voting stations in popular neighborhoods. The activist from Shams Network told me, "My experience at the voting station was very bad. I waited two hours in line in the sun and no other women came, except a few old women. I was harassed for wearing a long skirt with a slit by people in the line and by a poll worker who asked me 'why are you dressed for a party'?"⁵¹ Female candidates, speaking anonymously, complained of the particularly thuggish behavior of some of the Sadrists in certain areas of Baghdad. They criticized international monitors for focusing only on manageable middle class and upper middle-class neighborhoods and ignoring intimidation and manipulation in other areas. Other candidates also complained that wealthier parties were able to hire their own monitoring teams (like an exit poll team), but that independents and new political parties did not have the same resources. Thus, although the protest movement created a new set of aspiring politicians with the support of the Iraqi street, they were severely under-resourced.

To many women, running for parliament was the continuation of the protest, an extension of their cause to reform the Iraqi political system from within. In this, they differed from many other protestors, who sought revolutionary change in Iraq, and who demonstrated

that desire by boycotting the election. They were dismayed by the protest movement, and some even felt betrayed by it. A candidate who ran in Baghdad told me: "Unfortunately, we were surprised at the boycott. After Tishreen ended, we had to move to political work, I was surprised they [the protestors] did not continue this work. On the contrary, they boycotted us." But it was not only voters who boycotted the election in 2021, there were entire political parties who emerged from the protest movement who chose not to participate or run.

3.3 Challenges and Opportunities for Women's Political Participation

There are shared challenges that Iraqi female candidates face, whether they are from a traditional entrenched party or whether they are first time candidates from a protest movement. In the words of Maysun al-Damaluji, a former deputy minister of culture and a former MP with a feminist agenda:

Iraq, like other countries in the region, has a largely patriarchal society, and women suffer in their candidacy and work. A woman has to work ten times as much as a man to get a tenth of the appreciation. It is enough for a man to be the chief of a tribe to earn respect. As for a woman, she has to accomplish a lot, and she may get some respect. The challenge to her work is linked to her personal reputation or her external appearance, and she is the subject of constant criticism, even from the women themselves and the media, and this is unfortunate.⁵³

There are several themes that al-Damaluji highlights in her interview that were reiterated to me by other candidates, especially younger ones. First, the notion that Iraqi women had to work much harder than men for recognition was something shared by Iraqi female candidates, activists, and scholars. A first-time candidate who had worked at the Ministry of Electricity, Ola al-Tamimi, described the challenges faced by professional young women: "people at the ministries treat you as a cover if you're a young woman, like you're empty inside." A professor at the University of Baghdad added that Iraqi men have much easier career advancement, given that they are not expected to take on additional burdens of being caregivers and home managers. A woman's family must be fully on board for her to be able to make a career, especially one in politics.

It is not surprising, then, that many women who choose political careers are from political families. This is especially the case with Iraq's established parties, who recruited

and supported female candidates from their own ranks. This includes, for example, Ala Talabani who is the niece of Iraq's late president, Jalal Talabani, and four times elected MP. Having familial ties to politics also allowed women to join political parties broadly, not just those affiliated with their family. Ola Al-Tamimi who ran as a first-time candidate with the Awareness Movement said that despite her family having ties to many different Iraqi political parties, she chose to run with a new party and her family supported her in that endeavor. In the provincial council elections that took place in December 2023, Al-Tamimi started her own party, Arak, and then ran as part of the Power of National State coalition that was organized by Ammar Al-Hakim and former prime minister Haider Al-Abadi.

Having familial ties to political work does not only make running for office logistically easier, but it also lessens the reputational costs associated with political work. A former MP with the Hikma Movement, representing Baghdad, explained that despite coming from a political family, her children were worried about the reputational costs of her being in parliament, but were willing to accept her decision.⁵⁶

The reputational costs associated with political work for women are two-fold. First, there is a less pernicious cost of being associated with corruption and ineptitude that effects all parliamentarians in Iraq. Second, there is a cost that is paid especially by women who face smear campaigns that accuse them of a variety of activities and that deploy fake news on social media.

The 2018 Iraqi election was a particularly ugly time for female candidates who were subjected to smear campaigns. At least two candidates had to deal with alleged sex tapes and many candidates have become hyper vigilant as a result. One of the ways in which the government has become responsive to this, in the 2021 election, using the National Security Advisory to create a hotline with an officer devoted to receiving and addressing complaints about reputational smearing and other electoral manipulation, including tearing down posters. Some candidates praised the decision and agreed that it was a step in the right direction, but many informed me that the hotline was either not functioning or that the officer in charge took in the complaints but did nothing in response. However, electoral violence against women was reduced in the 2021 elections.⁵⁷

This is in addition to the issues of sexual harassment that professional women face and that women who decide to run for office or to become activists must face to an even greater degree. Another young woman who was an activist and the head of a political NGO in Baghdad expressed to me her disappointment in the lack of attention both Iraqi

feminist CSOs and the international community paid to workplace sexual harassment laws, stressing that private sector development should not come at women's expense.⁵⁸

Another shared challenge that impacts all women running for office, and which is driven by societal norms, is women's inability to access informal political spaces. Perhaps due to the high temperatures for half of the year, a lot of political discussions and decision making takes place privately in late hours at the homes of party leaders. These are gatherings that extend into the early morning, and which are deemed socially inappropriate for women to attend. There are also formal daytime occasions that are closed off to women, like men's funerals and tribal gatherings. In some highly conservative communities in southern Iraq, even the markets are closed off to women. Nour Nafea, the Emtidad candidate, spoke to me about the uproar and confusion caused in Diwaniya by her decision to campaign in the market as a young woman. She had no choice but to seek these public spaces because, as she says, "there are no spaces for women to congregate and to breathe... there are no cafes or parks [for women]."59 These are the spaces in which male candidates' campaign, secure support, make promises, and advance their careers. These are spaces that are closed off to women. And although there are women who have managed to enter these spaces, it comes at a very high cost. As one former parliamentarian said to me in in an interview, "when we are careful about reputation, space is limited to us, we live in a tribal society. A male MP can go to tribes, funerals, he can stay up all night. You can't do this; you can't bring damage to your reputation."60

Women punish female candidates for these infringements on social norms more so than their male counterparts. Nearly every single candidate I spoke to told me how she faced attacks from women in her own community and how her voters and supporters were predominantly men. Most female candidates avoided a campaign strategy that was directed at securing votes from women, apart from one MP from Sulaymaniyah, who believes that the future of women's political participation lay in a women's political party. A civil society observer of the election expressed her frustration with the how the Iraqi street voted, saying that they exhibited sexist standards, and opted to vote for female candidates with attractive posters. 62

4. Conclusion

4.1 **Policy Recommendations**

Given the experience of Iraqi women in political participation, how can the international community – whether through diplomatic or development efforts – advance their cause? How can the Iraqi government promote women's participation? In this section, I outline a few policies recommendations that emerged from this research project.

First, the international development community should continue to hold capacity building workshops for women but coordinate substantive topics through engagement with Iraqi women's CSOs and experts.

As described in the paragraphs above, the workshops that were organized by both local CSOs and international organizations were helpful to female civil society activists and aspiring parliamentarians. Women especially appreciated the sessions that focused on substantive skills, including explaining the electoral law and policy design. Women also stand to benefit from workshops focusing on economic issues and fiscal policy. Women who emerged from the protest movement are less interested in leadership and campaign workshops, as they understand the Iraqi street well and need help navigating the political system.

Second, the international community should expand future electoral monitoring missions to popular urban neighborhoods where the most manipulation takes place and where local female monitors are most vulnerable.

Despite the UN's positive report on the Iraqi elections, female candidates complained that electoral manipulation and intimidation took place away from the eyes of monitors, in popular urban areas where members of established parties intimidated and harassed candidates and their voters. Future electoral monitoring missions, especially international ones, should expand efforts to monitor more remote areas to support local monitoring missions, particularly those that involve women.

Third, the international community should continue to support the Iraqi government's efforts to protect female candidates from cyberattacks and from smear campaigns.

Female candidates expressed a satisfaction with the protective regulations put in place in the 2021 election through coordinated efforts from the UN and the National Security Advisory. These efforts should be maintained and expanded in the future.

Relatedly and **fourth**, both the Iraqi government and the international community should work to safeguard women against harassment in the workplace and in political spaces.

Although female candidates expressed feeling protected against smear campaigns in the run-up to the election, Iraqi women still face harassment in the workplace and in political spaces. Local CSOs and the international community have fixated on the domestic violence bill, which has been stalled for years in parliament, and have not shifted their gaze to other important measures, including creating positive discrimination for women in the public sector and promoting laws that protect against sexual harassment.

Fifth, the international diplomatic community can help compensate for Iraqi women's political exclusion from informal spaces for increasing their inclusion in international decision-making spaces and setting a tone for the Iraqi government.

Iraqi women from across the political spectrum are excluded in informal political spaces where many decision-making takes place. To address this requires shift in societal norms, which will require coordinated long-term efforts. In the meantime, the international diplomatic community can help set this tone by increasing the space for Iraqi women's inclusion in international decision-making spaces.

Sixth, the Iraqi government should consider strategies to even the advertising playing field for first time candidates.

This includes, for example, financial caps on campaigns or the prohibition of certain campaign goods. The Iraqi communications commission can create a more even playing field granting candidates time on television, to allow under-resourced candidates an opportunity to present.

Seventh, the Iraqi government should forbid the presence of party representatives in polling stations.

Iraq's established parties can send teams to polling stations to monitor the situation and to assess the party's progress and ensure against manipulation. However, the presence of these teams is unfair to under resourced parties and candidates and in some circumstances can create an uncomfortable atmosphere for voters and for candidates.

4.2 Can Women push Iraq towards Democratization?

Despite the quantitative success of women in the 2021 Iraqi election, there is much work to be left. First, many of the women who won a seat represent the interests of established parties who have a history of sidelining the women's rights agenda. Many of those who emerged from traditional civil society have been also unable to advance the agenda in parliament due to the constraints of their political party or of parliamentary culture. 63 Civil society, however, has been able to train a new cadre of young women who emerged in the October protest movement and who made the decision to run for politics subsequently. These women were neither the predominant participants nor the predominant winners of the election, but they represent hope for change. They face similar challenges to other female parliamentarians including a lack of access to informal political space, sexism in the workspace, and reputational costs. They face additional challenges due to their positionality in the protest movement, including uneven resources and lack of policy experience. These challenges are not insurmountable, and in some cases, they are being addressed to some capacity. The struggle for women's substantive participation in Iraqi politics will continue to evolve and develop and observing how these women rise to meet the challenges of a new era of politics will be telling for Iraq's experiment in democratization.



Endnotes

- 1 For more analysis of the democratization project in Iraq, see: Marsin Alshamary, "The Iraq Invasion at Twenty: Iraq's Struggle for Democracy," *Journal of Democracy* 34, no. 2 (2023): 150–62.
- For more on the protest movement, see: "Iraq's Tishreen Uprising: From Barricades to Ballot Box," International Crisis Group Middle East & North Africa, July 26, 2021, https://www.crisisgroup.org/middle-east-north-africa/gulf-and-arabian-peninsula/iraq/223-iraqs-tishreen-uprising-barricades-ballot-box; S. Jiyad, M Küçükkeleş, & T. Schillings, "Economic Drivers of Youth Political Discontent in Iraq: The Voice of Young People in Kurdistan, Baghdad, Basra and Thi-Qar," Global Partners Governance, 2020, https://gpgovernance.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Economic-Drivers-of-Youth-Political-Discontent-in-Iraq-The-Voice-of-Young-People-in-Kurdistan-Baghdad-Basra-and-Thi-Qar.pdf; Zahra Ali, "Iraqis Demand a Country," MERIP 292/3 (Fall/Winter 2019). https://merip.org/2019/12/iraqis-demand-a-country/
- For an analysis of generational differences among Iraqi female political activists, see: Nour Alhuda Saad, "The Struggle of Young Iraqi Women for Political Participation," 1001 Iraqi Thoughts, 16 April 2023, https://1001iraqithoughts.com/2023/04/16/the-struggle-of-young-iraqi-women-for-political-participation/.
- 4 "Gender Analysis of Iraq's October 2021 National Elections", United Nations Assistance Mission for Iraq, 7 March 2022, https://iraq.un.org/en/174018-gender-analysis-iraqs-october-2021-national-elections-elecrep.
- For a discussion of the relationship between democratization and female political participation, see: Daniel Stockemer & Bilel Kchouk, "(Democratic) regime change and the representation of women in parliament," *International Review of Sociology* 27, no.3 (2017), 491-509.
- 6 UN (United Nations) General Assembly. 2012. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 19 December 2011—Women and Political Participation. Sixty-sixth session. A/66/455. Available at https://documents.un.org/doc/undoc/gen/n11/466/62/pdf/n1146662.pdf?token=Qb0C3X229GARjRWW4n&fe=true (accessed June 2024).
- 7 Marsin Alshamary, "Postwar Development of Civil Society in Iraq's Mid Euphrates Region", The Brookings Institution,
 January 2022, https://www.brookings.edu/research/postwar-development-of-civil-society-in-iraqs-mid-euphrates-region/.
- The only constitutionally mandated quota in the 2005 Iraqi parliament is the 25% quota for women. However, the parliamentary electoral law designates 9 seats to minorities (5 for Christians and 1 each for Yazidis, Faili Kurds, Shabaks, and Mandaeans).
- 9 Mona L. Krook, Quotas for Women in Politics: Gender and Candidate Selection Reform Worldwide (New York: Oxford University Press, 2009); James N. Sater, "Changing Politics from Below? Women Parliamentarians in Morocco", Democratization, 14:4 (2007), 723-742.
- See for example: Arwa Ibrahim, "The women on the frontline of Iraq's uprising", AI Jazeera English, December 5, 2019, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2019/12/5/the-women-on-the-frontline-of-iraqs-uprising; Zahra Ali, "Women and the Iraqi Revolution," Jadaliyya, March 13, 2020, https://www.jadaliyya.com/Details/40817.
- 11 For a brief overview of the change in civil society in Iraq, see: Zahra Ali "Protest Movements in Iraq in the Age of 'New Civil Society'" LSE CRP Blog, October 3, 2019, https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/crp/2019/10/03/protest-movements-in-iraq-in-the-age-of-new-civil-society/.
- 12 Celeste Koens & Samanthi J. Gunawardana, "A continuum of participation: rethinking Tamil women's political participation and agency in post-war Sri Lanka", *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 23:3 (2021), 463-484.
- 13 S. Franceschet, "Women in politics in post-transitional democracies: the Chilean case," International Feminist Journal of Politics 3, no. 2 (2001), 207-236.
- 14 M.M. Hughesand and A.M. Tripp, "Civil war and trajectories of change in women's political representation in Africa, 1985–2010," Social Forces 93, no. 4 (2015), 1513–1540.
- Daniel Stockemer and Bilel Kchouk, "(Democratic) regime change and the representation of women in parliament", International Review of Sociology, 27:3 (2017), 491–509.
- 16 Ibid.
- 17 K.M. Fallon, L.Swiss, and J. Viterna, "Resolving the democracy paradox: how democratization affects women's legislative representation in developing nations," *American Sociological Review*, 77 no.3(2012), 380–408.
- 18 Yasmin Chilmeran, "A Twenty Year Retrospective on the Iraqi Women's Movement," 1001 Iraqi Thoughts, April 23, 2023, https://1001iraqithoughts.com/2023/04/23/a-twenty-year-retrospective-on-the-iraqi-womens-movement/.
- 19 Mona Krook, "Contesting gender quotas: dynamics of resistance", Politics, Groups, and Identities, 4:2 (2016), 268-283.
- 20 Sarah Sunn Bush and Pär Zetterberg, "Gender Quotas and International Reputation," *American Journal of Political Science* 65, no. 2 (2021), 326–41.
- 21 Mona Krook, "Reforming Representation: The Diffusion of Candidate Gender Quotas Worldwide." *Politics & Gender 2* (2006) 303–327.

- 22 Taif Alkhudary, "From the House to the Fire': The Gender Quota and Women's Substantive Participation in Iraq". LSE Middle East Centre Blog, March 2024, https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mec/2024/03/05/from-the-house-to-the-fire-the-gender-quota-and-womens-substantive-representation-in-iraq/.
- 23 Sarah Childs and Mona Lena Krook, "Analysing Women's Substantive Representation: From Critical Mass to Critical Actors." Government & Opposition 44 (2009):125-45.; S. Childs, and J. Withey, "Women representatives acting for women: sex and the signing of early day motions in the 1997 British parliament" Political Studies 52, no 3 (2004): 552-564.; V. Wang, V., "Women changing policy outcomes: learning from Pro-women legislation in the Ugandan parliament," Women's Studies International Forum 41, no.1 (2013): , 113-121.
- 24 For more on this, see: Yasmin Chilmeran, "Women, Peace and Security across scales: exclusions and opportunities in Iraq's WPS engagements" *International Affairs* 98, no.2 (2022).
- Zahra Ali, Women and Gender in Iraq: Between National Building and Fragmentation (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2018).
- 26 Hadeel Abdelhameed, "Tishreen Women and the 2021 Iraqi Elections: Visions, Challenges, and Expectations," The Konrad Adenauer Foundation, 2020. https://www.kas.de/documents/266761/0/Dr.+Hadeel+Abdelhameed++Tishreen+Women+2022.pdf/06bd2a2b-31a5-2e06-9bba-052467d9ca64?version=1.0&t=1647932940483.
- 27 Olivier Bargain, Delphine Boutin, and Hugues Champeaux, "Women's Political Participation and Intrahousehold Empowerment: Evidence from the Egyptian Arab Spring." Journal of Development Economics 141 (2019): 102379.
- 28 Duanghathai Buranajaroenkij, Philippe Doneys, Kyoko Kusakabe, and Donna L Doane, "Expansion of Women's Political Participation through Social Movements: The Case of the Red and Yellow Shirts in Thailand," *Journal of Asian and African Studies* (Leiden) 53, no. 1 (2018): 34–48.
- 29 Samah Adil, "Amina āl-Rahal...," Kitabat, November 12, 2020, <a href="https://kitabat.com/cultural/lps://kitabat.com/cultural
- 30 Badrea Saleh Abdallah, "The Political Role of Iraqi Women After 2003", *The Journal of Legal and Political Studies* 4, no.2 (2015), 325. https://www.iasj.net/iasj/download/0e4a9d66f9ec9679.
- 31 Khayyal Al-Jawahiri, "āl diktora Naziyha āl-Dulaimi rāidat āl haraka āl niswiyya" Iraqi Communist Party, December 1, 2020, https://www.iraqicp.com/index.php/sections/variety/47493-2020-12-28-19-33-59
- 32 Jeffrey Drew Reger, "Ba'athist State Feminism: The General Federation of Iraqi Women in the Global 1970s," Journal of Women's History 32, no. 4(2020): 38–62.
- 33 Huda Al-Tamimi, "Effects of Iraq's Parliamentary Gender Quota on Women's Political Mobilization and Legitimacy Post-2003." *Contemporary Arab Affairs* 11, no. 4 (2018): 41–62.
- For more on the struggles with the personal status law, see the conversation between veteran Iraqi women's rights activist, Hanaa Edwar and Judge Salem Rawdan Al-Moussawi, "Iraqi Women and the National Personal Status Law-Statehood & Participation" Henrich Boll Foundation, March 3, 2014, https://lb.boell.org/en/2014/03/03/iraqi-women-and-national-personal-status-law-statehood-participation. See also: Raghad Kasim, "The Personal Status Law and Political Tensions in Iraq," 1001 Iraqi Thoughts, February 14, 2019, https://1001iraqithoughts.com/2019/02/14/the-personal-status-law-and-political-tensions-in-iraq/.
- 35 For more, see Simona Foltyn's documentary: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lK0Bd2bQRzc or read her article: Simona Foltyn, "You are not honorable anymore", *Al Jazeera English*, August 22, 2022, https://www.aljazeera.com/features/longform/2022/8/22/sex-trafficking-in-iraq.
- 36 Author interview with female employee at Ministry of Electricity. Baghdad, Iraq. March 2022.
- 37 Marsin Alshamary, "Postwar Development of Civil Society in Iraq's Mid-Euphrates Region", *The Brookings Institution*, January 2022, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/FP 20220103 iraq civil society alshamary. pdf.
- 38 Zahra Ali, Women and Gender in Iraq: Between National Building and Fragmentation.
- 39 Author interview with Jihan Al-Khafaji. Baghdad, Iraq. June 2022.
- 40 UN Women, "The National Security Adviser starts training programs for women candidates for the upcoming parliamentary elections", July 1, 2021, https://iraq.unwomen.org/en/news-and-events/stories/2021/07/national-security-adviser-training-programs.
- 41 Author interview with Jihan Al-Khafaji. Baghdad, Iraq. June 2022.
- 42 Hadeel Abdelhameed, 2020.
- 43 Author interview with Fatima Al-Issawi. Najaf, Iraq. December 2021.
- 44 Author interview with Amal Habashi. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 45 Marsin Alshamary, "Protestors and Civil Society Actors in Iraq: Between Reform and Revolution," The Konrad Adenauer Foundation, December 2020. https://auis.edu.krd/iris/sites/default/files/Final%20Protestors%20and%20Civil%20 Society%208%20Dec%2020.pdf

- 46 Hadeel Abdelhameed, 2020.
- 47 UNAMI, "Gender Analysis of Iraq's October 2021 National Elections", March 7, 2022, https://iraq.un.org/en/174018-gender-analysis-iraqs-october-2021-national-elections-electep.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Hadeel Abdelhameed, 2020.
- 51 Author interview with Mina Al Sada. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 52 Author interview with Jihan Al-Khafaji. Baghdad, Iraq. June 2022.
- 54 Author interview with Ola al-Tamimi. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 55 Author interview with Ola al-Tamimi. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 56 Author interview with former Hikma MP. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 57 Hadeel Abdelhameed, 2020.
- 58 Interview with Nour al-Huda. Baghdad, Iraq. June 2022.
- 59 Interview with Nour Nafea. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 60 Author interview with former Hikma Movement candidate. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 61 Author interview with former Patriotic Union of Kurdistan Member of Parliament. Baghdad, Iraq. July 2022.
- 62 Author interview with activist from Baghdad and electoral monitor. Baghdad, Iraq. April 2022.
- 63 For a discussion of the difficulties that face the new political parties in parliament, see: Marsin Alshamary, "The New Iraqi Opoosition," Clingendaal, August 31, 2023, https://www.clingendael.org/publication/new-iraqi-opposition.



Middle East Initiative

Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs Harvard Kennedy School 79 JFK Street Cambridge, MA 02138

www.belfercenter.org/project/middle-east-initiative



